IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB **5** 1996

CLERK, St. By	PREME COURT
Öfflef	Deputy Glerk

DARCUS WRIGHT,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 85,070

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Counsel for Appellant

ORIGINAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, In and For St. Lucie County, Florida. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal.

The symbol "T" will denote the trial transcript.

The symbol "DJ" will denote the contents of Exhibit 10 in evidence.

The symbol "CJ" will denote the contents of Exhibit 11 in evidence.

The symbol "JR" will denote the content of Exhibit 13 in evidence.

The symbol "DB" will denote the contents of Exhibit 14 in evidence.

The symbol "AW" will denote the contents of Exhibit 15 in evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 29, 1993, Appellant, Darcus Wright, was charged by indictment with premeditated murder, burglary, and aggravated assault R2-3. Jury selection began on November 7, 1994. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for judgments of acquittal T2145. Appellant's motions were denied T2145. Appellant was found guilty of murder in the first degree, and burglary R758-59. Appellant was found guilty of assault, a lesser included offense of aggravated assault R760.

The jury's recommendation was 8-4 for the death penalty R761. On December 12, 1994 the trial court sentenced Appellant to death for the murder conviction R818,821. The trial court departed from the recommended guideline sentence of 5½ to 7 years, and sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for the burglary R823. Appellant was sentenced to 60 days in jail for the

assault R825. On December 12, 1994, the trial court filed its sentencing order R802-818, Appendix.

A timely notice of appeal was filed R828-29.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

The following facts are relevant to this case.

On October 10, 1993, Officer James D. Howie with the Port St. Lucie Police Department was called in reference to a child pickup and was to meet with Appellant T1818-1819. Appellant had gone to the police department and said that he had rights to his children and he wanted to enforce them R1846. Appellant was going through divorce and he had papers that he was to pick up the children that day T1819.

Howie testified that Appellant did have papers that indicated that he had a right to his children on that day T1840. Appellant had more paperwork than the injunction for protection T1844. Howie accompanied Appellant to 617 Southeast Streamlet Avenue T1819. When Howie arrived at the residence he came into contact with Allison Prescod T1819. After speaking with Prescod, Howie did not allow Appellant to have his children T1820. Howie decided that Appellant did not have the papers that said he was entitled to the children T1821. When Howie told Appellant this, Appellant did not scream, holler or shout. He was calm T1821. Howie learned that Appellant had a suspended license and discussed this with him T1822. Appellant said that he had already taken care of this T1822. Howie said that he was going to write a citation T1822. Appellant said, fine, and that he would speak to the court Monday because he had already taken care of it T1822. Howie verified through 911 that the license was suspended T1822. Howie learned about Appellant's suspended license while inside

the house T1847. Howie testified that domestic disputes are volatile T1850. Howie knew that this particular situation had the potential to be explosive T1850.

Roy Milner is an attorney involved primarily in civil litigation T1907. Appellant came to him after he was served with divorce papers on October 5, 1993 T1908. A petition for dissolution of marriage had been filed and there was an injunction T1908. Neither of these documents terminates parental rights T1908. The injunction would not permit Appellant to come about his residence where he was living with his wife and children in order to exercise visitation T1908. This was an ex parte injunction T1908. This injunction had a hearing set for October 7, 1993 T1909. Milner called Appellant's wife's attorney, Jackie Russakis T1909. Milner told her he believed that everything could be worked out without a hearing T1909. The two attorneys worked out an agreement T1909. The agreement encompassed child visitation T1909.

Milner called Russakis one or two days after October 5 T1911. When Milner was in Russakis' office, Russakis called Allison Wright and they went over the amount of child support, visitation which in this particular case Appellant was wanting to see his kids and because he could not go to the house, he could not exercise visitation unless she would allow him T1911. The main thing was to get Appellant to see his kids as soon as possible T1911-1912. The agreement specified that on Sunday at 9:00 at the McDonald's on Port St. Lucie Boulevard Allison Wright would go there with her children so that Appellant would have visitation on Sunday T1912. Russakis explained all of this to Allison Wright T1912. Everything seemed fine T1912. Milner then asked Russakis to fax an agreement to his office which she subsequently did that day T1912. Milner testified that the document is non-

enforceable in its present state T1914. Signature of the judge would make it enforceable T1914.

Appellant was in contact with Milner on October 7 which was a Thursday T1915. There was a problem with Appellant not receiving telephone communications with his children T1915. Milner saw Appellant the morning of the 11th before lunch time T1915. It was around 11:00 a.m. T1915. Appellant did not have an appointment T1916. Appellant told Milner that he had gone to McDonalds and waited around pursuant to the agreement T1916. Nobody showed up T1916. Appellant then called the police department to accompany him to the house so he could try to get visitation T1916. The police advised him that they could not really do anything and told him to see his attorney Monday morning T1916.

Milner told Appellant he was sure there was some sort of mis-understanding or miscommunication T1916. Milner said it should not be a problem T1916. Milner said, "I'll see if I can get you some visitation this afternoon" T1916. Milner testified there was some sort of mix-up or misunderstanding T1917. Appellant seemed to be upset that he could not see his kids T1917. Milner said he'd call the other attorney and that he would get Appellant some visitation T1917. Appellant was not agitated, he just seemed upset that he could not see his kids T1917-1918. There were apparently some other problems T1918.

Milner testified that on October 7, 1993 Appellant had full rights to see his children pursuant to the agreement with his wife T1920. There was no restraining order after October 7, 1993 T1920. Milner testified there is a tendency of people to hear what they want to hear when they talk to an attorney T1921. Sometimes they do not comprehend what's said because the emotion involved with divorces and visitation T1921. The agreement was legally binding, but without a signature from a judge ... not take to police T1923. Appellant came to Milner

for professional advice T1924. Milner told Appellant that he would have visitation that afternoon or the next day T1925. Milner does not recall the exact words that he gave to Appellant T1927.

Officer William Winn, patrol officer for the St. Lucie Police Department, was on road patrol on October 11, 1993 T1770-1771. He was parked doing a report when he noticed a grey Ford T1771-1772. The car parked next to Winn's car T1775. Appellant exited from the car T1775. There were two children in the car with Appellant T1776. Appellant said to Officer Winn, "I want to turn myself in" T1777. Winn asked Appellant why T1777. Appellant said, "I want to turn myself in because I just shot my wife for trying to take my kids" T1777. Winn asked Appellant what he did with the gun T1777. Winn searched Appellant, but did not find any weapon T1778. Winn did find seven rounds of .38 ammunition in Appellant's front pocket T1778-1780. Winn transported Appellant to the police station T1781. Appellant said, "He turned himself in because he had the kids in the vehicle and he didn't want anything to happen to them" T1781. Appellant also gave Winn a phone number for his father in another state for Winn to call so he could come down and take custody of the kids T1781. Appellant seemed calm when he approached, he was not crying, not upset, not angry T1781. Appellant's demeanor never changed T1783. Appellant was cooperative and showed concern for his children T1784. After Winn had found out that Appellant's had passed away he tried to tell Appellant T1793. Detective Beck came into the interview room at the police station T1794.

Detective Scott Beck went to where Appellant was at the station and, after he introduced himself to Appellant, said, "Man, what a messed-up scene" T1865. Appellant responded, "That's what she gets for trying to take away my children" T1865. Beck testified that Appellant appeared very calm T1866. Appellant did not appear angry T1866. Beck did not

know about Appellant's feelings or what was going on inside of him T1867. Beck testified that it was equally possible that Appellant may have been dying inside T1867. Beck admitted that his arrest affidavit did not say that Appellant told him "that's what she gets for trying to take my kids" T1870-1871.

Carmelita Prescod lives at 617 Streamlet Avenue in Port St. Lucie T1932. She and her husband own the home T1932. Prescod's daughter, Allison, was married to Appellant T1932. Allison and the children moved in to the Prescods' residence in the fall of 1993 approximately three weeks before this incident occurred T1935. Prescod knew that Allison had gone to an attorney to get a divorce and had gotten a restraining order for Appellant not to come to the house T1937. On October 10, 1993 Appellant came to the house and stayed in a car parked in front of the house T1937. At 9:15 a police officer came inside the house and talked to Allison and then called the police station T1938.

Prescod testified that on Monday morning, Allison answered the phone and she hung up the phone and she told Prescod that it was Darcus T1939. This was around 11:00 to 11:15 T1939. Later, Prescod answered the phone and it was Appellant T1941. Appellant said he wanted to speak with Allison T1942. Prescod said that Allison did not want to speak with him and hung up the phone T1942. Appellant came to the house around noon T1943. Prescod was in the bedroom T1943. Allison was in the family room with the two kids T1943. Allison hollered, "Mommy, Darcus here" T1950. Allison grabbed the two kids and came through the bathroom and went into her bedroom T1950. Allison was pulling the children with both hands T1950. Allison was dragging them T1951. When Allison went to the room, Prescod locked her bedroom door and went to the phone and called 911 T1951. While Prescod was on the phone she heard a big explosion T1951. The next thing she heard was someone coming down

the hallway walking down to her bedroom T1952. Prescod next heard someone kicking down her door T1953. The door broke open T1953. Appellant had two kids in his hands and a gun T1953. He put the kids down and pointed the gun and said, "I'll kill you" T1953. Prescod said, "Please, don't" and to "just take your kids and go" T1953. Appellant then took the kids back in his arms and turned to go out the door and told Prescod that "she's dead" T1953. Appellant walked out the front door and Prescod walked behind him T1955. Appellant took the children with him and sped away in his car T1955-1956. Prescod went into Allison's room T1956. It was a total of two to three seconds between the time Prescod heard the big crash and the time Appellant drove away T1957. It was all very quick T1957. Prescod saw Allison in a sitting position on the floor with her head on the bed T1957. Prescod called out to Allison T1957. Allison raised her head and went back down T1957. Only Allison's head and hand were on the bed T1958. Prescod testified that she did not give Appellant permission to enter her house T1961. When Appellant pointed the gun at Prescod, Prescod was in fear of her life T1961.

Prescod testified that everything she testified to occurred while the 911 tape was on T1965. The tape was played to the jury:

911 OPERATOR:

911, may I help you?

FEMALE VOICE:

Yeah, get me the police quick.

911 OPERATOR:

What's the problem, ma'am?

FEMALE VOICE:

617 -- Darcus is breaking in the house.

911 OPERATOR:

Who is breaking into the house?

FEMALE VOICE:

Yeah, 617 Streamlet Avenue, Hurry.

911 OPEATOR:

Who is breaking into the house, ma'am?

FEMALE VOICE:

It's -- it's my son-in-law. He has a restraining order not

to enter the house here. Hurry.

MALE VOICE:

"Why you all take my kids?"

FEMALE VOICE:

[unintelligible]. Darcus [unintelligible]. Just take them,

please [unintelligible].

MALE VOICE:

You take my kids -- my life.

FEMALE VOICE:

Oh, please, Darcus, go take them. [unintelligible] our

house [unintelligible].

MALE VOICE:

She's dead.

FEMALE VOICE:

Go. Take them. Go take them, Darcus, take them.

911 OPERATOR:

This lady's son-in-law ---

FEMALE VOICE:

Take them.

T1976-1977.

Officer James D. Howie was the first officer to arrive at the scene T1822. He arrived at the house at approximately 12:19 T1824. When Howie arrived Carmelita Prescod was crying and upset T1826. Howie went into the bedroom and found Allison Prescod slumped over the bed T1827. Allison's knees were on the floor and her upper body was laying on the bed T1831. Howie checked for vital signs but there were none T1832. Howie started CPR T1832. Allison appeared to have a gunshot wound to the right wrist T1835. When Howie first walked through the residence he noticed that the sliding glass door had been shattered and saw gun casings T1837.

Detective John Brazas arrived at the residence at 12:20 p.m. that day. Brazas saw that Howie was performing CPR on Allison and Brazas assisted T1760. Brazas also noticed that the master bedroom door frame was kicked in and the door frame was split T1762.

Detective Rick Wilson arrived at the scene at 12:57 p.m. T1720. Wilson saw shell casings on the livingroom floor along with glass and debris T1720. Wilson saw two bullet

holes in the bedsheet T1740. There was no blood or tissue on any of the sheets in evidence T1757.

Detective Robert Fitch arrived at the scene at 3:30 p.m. T1598. When Fitch had gotten to the scene things had already been moved T1607. Fitch testified that the point of entry was a sliding glass door that was shattered except for a few small sections T1617. A projectile was lodged in the wood trim T1618. A shoeprint was lifted from the master bedroom door T1618. A metal projectile was recovered from the kitchen floor T1618. In the northwest bedroom there was a queen size mattress, bedsheet, projectile, another projectile, and nine small pieces believed to be a projectile T1620. There were more holes on one side of the mattress than on the other T1656. There were two holes on one side and three on the other side T1656. The side of the mattress with three holes was the topside T1656. Bullets can change direction when they hit something T1713. In the photos showing glass, the witness does not know if the officers passed through or if the materials were spread or moved T1714.

Charles Diggs is the associate Medical Examiner who performed the autopsy on Allison Prescod on October 12, 1993 T2025,2028. The cause of death was a gunshot wound of the torso with perforation of the left lung and aorta T2029. This gunshot wound also involved the thigh T2029. It perforated the right upper thigh, at the junction of the torso T2029,2041,2045, then came out the thigh T2042, then reentered the body through the abdomen, T2029,2043, and through the abdomen and the chest T2029,2041. The projectile was recovered in the chest T2029. Internal bleeding took place in the abdominal and left chest cavity T2030. As a result of bleeding, Allison went into shock and immediately expired T2030. The gunshot wound to the junction of the torso and thigh was at close range because of the soot and powder T2032-33,2048.

The second wound was located on the right wrist T2030. It was a superficial wound T2030. Despite the wound, the wrist was fully operable T2052. It entered the lateral aspect of the wrist and came out the middle aspect of the wrist T2030. This particular wound just scurried right under the skin T2030. It did not strike any bone or anything of that sort nor did it lacerate the tendons T2030. It was under the skin for a short distance and it came out, entered the side of the wrist, and came out the middle of the wrist T2030.

Diggs opined that the wound exiting the thigh and entering the abdomen could not occur when the body is in a straight position whether it is lying or standing T2043. Rather, this occurrance of wounds occurs when the thigh is flexed and then wounds could line up T2043. In order to get trajectory the gun has to be within six inches and pointed at the quadriceps, really over the lateral aspect of the hip T2055.

Diggs testified that the possible trajectories can be explained in other ways than his explanation T2057. The wounds could be consistent with a defensive position depending on what position you are in T2079. Sometimes you may fold which may not be a defensive position but a reflex type action T2079. The position that Diggs demonstrated is most consistent because of the ease of motion that takes place. Diggs testified that he cannot exclude any other position T2079. When the bullet hits something with a different coefficient of friction trajectories can radically be altered T2086-2087. Dr. Diggs did demonstrated a number of scenarios T2094. Common to all the scenarios was the right leg flexed in toward the chest T2094. The positions are best described as legs flexed inward toward the chest T2094. From the example of the position that Dr. Diggs testified to one cannot raise up one's hand from that position T2054. If the wound to the wrist is an entry wound, it is totally inconsistent with the arm being in a normal position with palm down to the body T2054.

Michael Kelly, a forensic firearm and tool mark examiner, testified that the bullets found at the scene were .38 caliber bullets T2100-2108. Kelly examined the bed mattress from the bedroom. There was damage to the box spring and mattress T2111. There are two holes which entered the top part of the mattress T2114,2111. One bullet hit the spring inside the mattress and split the lead T2115. Kelly examined the white bed cover that had two bullet holes T2128. Kelly was not able to determine the distance from the muzzle to the bed cover T2128. Based on the trajectories a person could have been firing from both sides of the bed T2139. If lines were drawn, where they intersect would give a height above the mattress of an approximate distance T2139. But this would not necessarily show where the person was shooting T2139. The shooting could have been an inch away from the mattress and to get the same trajectory T2139 or fifteen feet away would have yielded the same data T2139. The bullet holes had no blood which indicates that the bullet absolutely missed the person T2140.

Bonnie Scarliarini met Appellant two years ago T1981. Appellant told Scarliarini that there were a lot of marital problems from time to time and that he loved his children T1986. Appellant always talked about his children T1986. Appellant stayed at Scarliarini's home T1989. Appellant left a phone number for his wife to let her know where he could be reached T1989. Allison Prescod Wright called that number T1989. During the summer of 1993 Scarliarini heard a phone call from Allison to her home T1989-1990. Scarliarini heard the emotional content of one or more of those calls T1990. Allison was screaming and yelling T1990. On October 5, 1993 Appellant was living with Scarliarini when he received divorce papers T1990. Appellant said that he could deal with the fact that he and his wife were getting divorced, but he was hoping he would be able to see his children T1991. Scarliarini saw Appellant cry T1991.

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