#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

\$1D J. WHITE APR 29 1996

CLEPK.	SUPREME COURT	
	/ X	
	Deserv Cherk	

DARCUS WRIGHT,	)	
Appellant,	)	
vs.	)	Case No. 85,070
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
Appellee.	j	
	)	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ST. LUCIE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SARA D. BAGGETT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0857238 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

# **

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, DARCUS WRIGHT, was the defendant in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "Appellant." Appellee, the State of Florida, was the petitioner in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "the State." Reference to the pleadings will be by the symbol "R," reference to the transcripts will be by the symbol "T," and reference to the supplemental pleadings and transcripts will be by the symbols "SR[vol.]" or "ST[vol.]" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant's statement of the case and facts is incomplete, often factually inaccurate, misleading, and sometimes incoherent. For example, he completely neglects to mention the guilt-phase testimony of Howard Siegal, from whom Appellant tried to borrow a gun the night before the murder. (T 1891-1901). Nevertheless, because of the page limitation, Appellee cannot present its own statement of facts. Appellant has raised 26 issues in a 100-page brief. To put the issues in factual context and to make all of the necessary arguments in response to them, Appellee has reached its page limit. Thus, the State will rely on its statement of facts set forth in the respective arguments.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Issue I - Appellant waited until the end of the State's case to complain that he could not see the exhibits as the witnesses testified from them. Given the tardiness of his request, he has failed to preserve this issue for review. Any error, however, in not suggesting that Appellant move from his seat was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue II - Appellant's absence from a bench conference during jury selection, to which he would not have had any input, was not error. Even if it were, however, it was harmless.

Issue III - There was no reason for the trial court to hold an evidentiary hearing during jury selection when Appellant saw a hangman's noose drawn on one of the prosecutor's tablets. Even should it have held a hearing, its remedy was not a mistrial.

Issue IV - Appellant's absence from a bench conference during the guilt phase, and again during the penalty phase, to which he would not have had any input, was not error. Even if it were, however, it was harmless.

Issue V - Appellant's absence during bench conferences during jury selection was not error, given

that the parties were discussing hardship challenges, rather than peremptory challenges. Any error, however, was harmless.

Issue VI - The facts supported an instruction on stealthy entry. Even if they did not, such an instruction was harmless, given other evidence of intent to commit burglary.

Issue VII - Appellant failed to preserve his objection to the peremptory challenge of an African American juror where he failed to renew his objection when the panel was sworn. Regardless, the State gave a race- and gender-neutral reason for striking the juror which was not merely pretextual.

Issue VIII - Appellant's special guilt-phase instructions were not an accurate statement of the law, and they were confusing and misleading. Any error in failing to give them, however, was harmless.

Issue IX - No attorney-client privilege attached to Appellant's research request slips to jail personnel; they were, in fact, public records. Regardless, defense counsel gave them to the State as part of discovery; thus, any privilege was waived.

Issue X - This Court has previously upheld the standard instruction on premeditation. It should do so here.

Issue XI - To the extent Appellant has properly pled an issue, he failed to preserve his motion to suppress because no objection was made at the time Appellant's statement to the police was introduced. Regardless, the motion to suppress was properly denied. Even were it not, the admission of Appellant's statement was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Issue XII - This Court has previously held that the State need not allege felony murder in the indictment in order to argue it and instruct the jury on it. Thus, the indictment was not constructively amended.

Issue XIII - The trial court did not err in allowing the State to argue, and in instructing the jury on, felony murder where the indictment only alleged premeditated murder.

Issue XIV - Appellant's sentence is proportionate to other cases under similar facts.

Issue XV - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's motion for continuance where Appellant had no commitment from any witness that they would be there.

Issue XVI - Appellant's absence from a bench conference during the penalty phase wherein the parties discussed the availability of witnesses for scheduling was not error. Even if it were, however, it was harmless.

Issue XVII - The trial court properly inquired into Appellant's desire to waive the introduction of several depositions in lieu of live testimony, and properly found that Appellant voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waived the presentation of such evidence before the jury. Any error, however, was harmless, given that Appellant presented the depositions for the trial court's consideration.

Issue XVIII - The record supports the trial court's rejection of the "capacity to appreciate" mitigating factor.

Issue XIX - The record supports the trial court's rejection of the "extreme duress" mitigating factor.

Issue XX - Appellant never requested another attorney or self-representation. Thus, there was no need for a Nelson inquiry when Appellant complained about his attorney during the penalty phase. Regardless, the trial court conducted an adequate inquiry and determined that there was no reasonable basis to discharge counsel.

Issue XXI - Until the elocution hearing prior to sentencing, Appellant never requested another attorney or self-representation. Thus, there was no need for <u>Nelson</u> inquiries when Appellant complained about his attorney during the guilt and penalty phases. Regardless, the trial court conducted adequate inquiries and determined that there was no reasonable basis to discharge counsel.

Issue XXII - This Court has previously upheld the constitutionality of the "felony murder" aggravating factor.

Issue XXIII - This Court has previously held that the standard instruction on nonstatutory mitigating factors is adequate; thus, the trial court is not required to give instructions on each individual nonstatutory factor.

Issue XXIV - This Court has previously upheld the constitutionality of the statutory mental mitigating factors even though they contain the modifiers "extreme," "substantial," and "substantially."

Issue XXV - This Court has previously held that the State can present evidence relating to the facts of a prior violent felony. Here, the facts supported the offense for which Appellant was convicted-aggravated battery--even though he was originally charged with attempted first degree murder.

Issue XXVI - Appellant is not deprived of meaningful appellate review because he cannot supplement the record with the record from Appellant's prior violent felony conviction. The time for using such record was during the cross-examination of the State's witness relating to this prior offense.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### **ISSUE I**

WHETHER APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WAS VIOLATED BY HIS INABILITY TO VIEW EXHIBITS USED BY THE WITNESSES DURING THEIR TESTIMONY (Restated).

There is no question that Appellant was present in the courtroom during every witness' testimony. Although several witnesses used demonstrative and photographic exhibits to explain their testimony to the jury, not once did Appellant or his attorney request permission for Appellant to move so that he could see the exhibit while a witness was testifying. Rather, at the end of the State's case, Appellant himself complained to the court that he had not been able to see the exhibits during the witnesses' testimony and that counsel had neglected to ask the trial court for permission to move, even though Appellant had asked counsel to do so. (T 2163-64). Upon inquiry by the trial court, defense counsel indicated that there could be tactical reasons for Appellant not to move to see the exhibits, and that he would explain them to Appellant, but defense counsel agreed that Appellant should be allowed to move if he wanted to do so during any forthcoming testimony. (T 2164-65). There was, however, no more testimony presented during the guilt phase of the trial.

On appeal, Appellant now claims that his inability to see the exhibits was "fundamentally unfair," and deprived him of his rights to confrontation, due process, effective assistance of counsel, and a fair trial.

Brief of Appellant at 28-31. To support his contentions, Appellant relies principally on Waters v. State, 486 So. 2d 614, 615 (Fla. 5th DCA), rev. denied, 494 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 1986). In Waters, defense counsel had twice objected to the defendant's inability to see the exhibits being used by the State's witnesses during the trial. On both occasions, the trial court allowed the defendant, who was shackled, to view the exhibit out of the presence of the jury. When a crime scene technician returned to the witness stand, defense counsel's objection that the defendant could not see the exhibit was overruled. On appeal, the

Fifth District held that the trial court committed reversible error by not allowing the defendant to view the exhibit during the witness' testimony.

Unlike in <u>Waters</u>, Appellant did not indicate to the trial court his desire to see the exhibit during the witnesses' testimony until <u>after</u> the State had rested its case. By that time, Appellant's request was too late. Repeatedly throughout his trial, Appellant raised complaints and objections through his attorney. (T 1256-59, 1378, 1380-81, 1808). Had Appellant felt strongly enough about his inability to see the exhibits, he could have convinced his attorney to seek permission, or he could have raised the issue to the court outside the presence of the jury before the end of the trial. After all, he ultimately raised the issue. There is no reason he could not have done it sooner. Instead, he sat on his hands and waited until the close of the State's case before making his desires known.

As this Court has held so many times,

[t]he requirement of a contemporaneous objection is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of a judicial system. It places the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provides him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings. Delay and an unnecessary use of the appellate process result from a failure to cure early that which must be cured eventually.

Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978).

This maxim is exemplified in <u>Howard v. State</u>, 484 So. 2d 1319, 1321 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 492 So. 2d 1332 (Fla. 1986). In <u>Howard</u>, defense counsel requested the defendant's presence at the charge conference, which was denied. Although the district court held that the charge conference was not a critical stage of the trial mandating a defendant's presence, it nevertheless held that,

as a general rule, a request for the defendant's presence at any stage of the trial should be honored. Where, as here, however, it is untimely and is made at a noncritical stage of trial, the trial court does not err in denying the request. By allowing the charge conference to proceed without raising the issue of his client's presence effectively waived any objection that could have been made concerning Howard's absence.

Id. at 1321 (emphasis added).

Although witnesses' testimony, unlike a charge conference, constitutes a critical stage of the proceedings, Appellant nevertheless waived any right he had to see the exhibits during the witnesses' testimony. He could have made a timely request, but did not do so. By waiting until the end of the State's case, he precluded any remedy and established a classic "gotcha." Under these circumstances, he should be precluded from raising the issue.

Appellant premises his argument, however, on the doctrine of fundamental error, the application of which requires no contemporaneous objection. It is well-established that "[t]he doctrine of fundamental error should be applied only in rare cases where a jurisdictional error appears or where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application." Smith v. State, 521 So. 2d 106, 108 (Fla. 1988). Here, Appellant has made no showing that he was prejudiced by his inability to see the exhibits. Having the ability to view the exhibits and read the transcripts of the witnesses' testimony in this appeal, Appellant has pointed to nothing in the witnesses' testimony about which he could have counseled his attorney. Rather, he has merely stated in conclusory terms that his rights to confront the witnesses and prepare his defense were violated. Such a statement hardly satisfies his burden of showing fundamental error. Cf. Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995) (finding that defendants have a constitutional right to be present during the exercise of pretrial juror challenges, but finding that "the record shows no prejudice to Coney."); Vileenor v. State, 500 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (finding judge's charge to jury in defense counsel's absence harmless even though defendant's right to counsel at every critical stage of the proceedings is a fundamental right: "The possibility that the appellant may have been prejudiced by the absence of counsel under the facts of this case is purely speculative and unsubstantiated.").

Even were this Court to agree, however, that the trial court reversibly erred by failing to invite Appellant *sua sponte* to move to view exhibits, the State submits that such error, even if fundamental, was

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Florida Statutes § 924.33 (1995) provides that

[n]o judgment shall be reversed unless the appellate court is of the opinion, after an examination of all the appeal papers, that error was committed that injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant. It shall not be presumed that error injuriously affected the substantial rights of the appellant.

In <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), this Court acknowledged that section 924.33 made harmless error analysis applicable to all judgments, regardless of the type of error involved, and provided that there shall be no presumption that errors are reversible unless it can be shown that they are harmful. <u>Id.</u> at 1134.

In State v. Clark, 614 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 1992), this Court reaffirmed that the use of a pretrial deposition as substantive evidence by the State at trial where the defendant was not present for the deposition and was not informed of its possible use at trial "created fundamental error by depriving [the defendant] of his constitutional right to confront and cross-examine the witnesses against him." Id. at 454 (quoting Brown v. State, 471 So. 2d 6, 7 (Fla. 1985)). However, citing to DiGuilio and several United States Supreme Court cases, this Court held that harmless error analysis should be applied to the constitutional violation: "The harmless-error doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or innocence and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error." Clark, 614 So. 2d at 454 (quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 681 (1986)).

As this Court stated many years ago, "the modern trend in criminal cases is to excuse technical defects which have no bearing upon the substantial rights of the parties. When procedural irregularities occur, the emphasis is on determining whether anyone was prejudiced by the departure. A defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect trial." Hoffman v. State, 397 So. 2d 288, 290 (Fla. 1981) (emphasis

added) (quoting <u>Lackos v. State</u>, 339 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1976)). <u>See also Grossman v. State</u>, 525 So. 2d 833, 844 (Fla. 1988) ("It is clear then, that with the exceptions noted, there is a strong presumption that constitutional errors are subject to harmless error analysis."), <u>cert. denied</u>, 489 U.S. 1071 (1989).

Based on the record in this case, it cannot be said that error was committed which injuriously affected the substantial rights of Appellant. Thus, given the mandate of section 924.33, given this Court's analysis in <u>DiGuilio</u>, and given this Court's application of harmless error principles to other violations of fundamental constitutional rights, this Court should affirm Appellant's conviction for the first-degree murder of Allison Prescod.

### ISSUES II AND III1

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